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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether the finding that a transaction occurred domestically is sufficient 

for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 

2. Whether an employee, who at the direction of a superior, inserts a false 

or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 

liability under Rule 10(b)-5 (a) or (c), even if that individual is not the 

maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10(b)-5. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 
 

This case requires interpretation of a statute, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (“Section 

10(b)”), and the regulation promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 

(“Rule 10b-5”). The relevant text may be found in the appendix.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Accomplished businessman Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) moved back to 

his family’s ancestral home in Sicily, Italy. (R. at 1). In 2009, Marconi partnered 

with Benny Factor (“Factor”), a highly successful senior financial executive, to 

launch a new wine-and-spirits company, Alcollezione. (R. at 1-2). In 2009, 

Marconi and Factor headquartered Alcollezione in Milan, Italy and hired Ava 

Cato (“Cato”), a recent graduate from law school, as the company’s General 

Counsel. (R. at 2).  

In 2011, Alcollezione financed its growing operations through an initial 

public offering (“IPO”) on Borsa Italian, the Italian stock exchange. (R. at 2-3). 

In anticipation of the IPO, the company added an “Investor Relations” section 

to its website, containing the company’s financial statements, corporate 

disclosures, and other investor materials in English and Italian. (R. at 3). Chief 

Executive Officer Marconi and Chief Financial Officer Factor remained the 

company’s majority shareholders after the IPO. (R. at 3). 

During a trip to New York City, Factor introduced Marconi to investment 

banker Doris Schutt (“Schutt”), who wanted Alcollezione to open an American 

subsidiary. (R. at 3). Marconi declined because he was not interested in 

operating the business in America. (R. at 3). Schutt suggested that the 
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company instead sponsor an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”), but 

Marconi rejected that proposal, too. (R. at 3). In 2016, Marconi spoke with a 

business magazine regarding his fondness for la dolce vita and his lack of 

desire to move back to America. (R. at 3-4). 

The media exposure, along with strong financials and a robust economy 

boosted Alcollezione’s stock price. (R. at 4). Schutt encouraged her hedge fund 

friends in New York to invest, but the investors were unable to buy shares of 

the foreign-exchange-listed company. (R. at 4). Schutt considered using her 

position at Hansen Bank and Trust, a New York depository institution, to issue 

unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs. (R. at 4). When Marconi learned of the 

proposal, he told Schutt that Factor typically made the company’s nuanced 

financial decisions. (R. at 4). Marconi explained, “I’m more of a marketing guy, 

but any friend of Factor’s is a friend of mine.” (R. at 4). Soon thereafter, Hansen 

Bank and Trust filed a Form F-6, effectively registering the unsponsored 

Alcollezione ADRs. (R. at 4). Hedge fund managers in New York and 

Connecticut telephonically purchased the ADRs over-the-counter (“OTC”) with 

the assistance of the issuer’s employees. (R. at 4). 

In anticipation of the 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting (the “Annual 

Meeting”), Marconi pitched a new product to Factor and Cato, Frizzantissimo, a 

spiked mineral water. (R. at 5). Cato, mindful of her impending biannual 

performance review, conducted “a diligent research assessment” of Italian 

regulations related to the new product. (R at 5). Ahead of the Annual Meeting, 



R10 

3 
 

Alcollezione’s stock fluctuated, in part, due to challenges to growth from 

“tightening food and beverage regulations.” (R. at 5).  

Marconi directed Cato to provide assurances on Frizzantissimo’s 

regulatory compliance. (R. at 5). Cato, however, was uncertain about the timing 

of compliance, informing Marconi that although compliance with regulations 

was possible in the long-term, it “would be an uphill climb” and “seemed 

unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 5). Marconi responded that “these things 

always find a way of getting resolved.” (R. at 5). Marconi rebuffed Cato’s 

reservations, imploring her to trust him and promising that he could “handle 

the PR stuff if there is blowback.” (R. at 5). He assured Cato, “this sort of thing 

was perfectly common in business.” (R. at 5). Finally, he gave Cato an 

ultimatum: “Listen, this thing is happening with or without you.” (R. at 5). 

Although “it was unclear whether Frizzantissimo would run afoul of any 

beverage regulations,” Cato complied with Marconi’s request and drafted 

assurances that Frizzantissimo would be approved and ready for sale in the 

second quarter of 2018. (R. at 6). The assurances were “subsequently inserted 

into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s pro-forma financial 

statements.” (R. at 6). 

Marconi introduced Frizzantissimo at the Annual Meeting, where he 

“delivered” his slide deck and “passed along” the pro-forma financial 

statements. (R. at 6). The financial statements were also posted on the Investor 

Relations page. (R. at 6). Investors responded positively, boosting Alcollezione’s 

stock price. (R. at 6). Hedge fund investors drove up the ADR price. (R. at 6). 
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Then, on March 14, 2018, Frizzantissimo production stopped due to 

“noncompliance with quality control standards of production.” (R. at 6). 

Following this news, the company’s stock price (and that of the corresponding 

ADR) fell. (R. at 6).  

Hedge fund managers (collectively, “Petitioners”) who purchased 

Alcollezione unsponsored ADRs between the Annual Meeting and March 14, 

2018, sued Alcollezione and former executives Marconi, Factor, and Cato in the 

District of Fordham. (R. at 7). Petitioners sought $6.1 million in damages for 

losses allegedly incurred by their reliance on the allegedly false and misleading 

statements made at the Annual Meeting and published online on the Investor 

Relations page. (R. at 7). Specifically, Petitioners alleged that Alcollezione and 

the former executives violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934, 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. (R. at 7).  

Each former executive separately moved to dismiss under Rule12(b)(6) 

arguing they were not engaged in a domestic transaction within the purview of 

U.S. securities laws. (R. at 7). Cato and Factor further argued in their motions 

that the fund managers failed to allege a Section 10(b) violation, and that they 

were not the “maker” of the allegedly false or misleading statements under Rule 

10(b)-5. (R. at 7-8). Factor additionally moved to dismiss the suit for failure to 

plead sufficient facts giving rise to a strong inference of scienter. (R. at 8).  

The District Court rejected the motions in part, first finding that the 

defendants engaged in a sufficiently domestic transaction. (R. at 8). Second, 

the court granted Factor’s motion, finding Petitioners failed to sufficiently plead 
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scienter. (R. at 8). But the District Court found that, although Cato was not the 

“maker” of the false statement, she was still primarily liable under 10b-5(a) and 

(c) because she “effectively served as the disseminator” of Marconi’s allegedly 

false statements. (R. at 8). Marconi settled with the fund managers for an 

undisclosed amount. (R. at 8). 

Cato filed an interlocutory appeal to the Fourteenth Circuit Court of 

Appeals. The Fourteenth Circuit reversed the District Court, finding that (1) the 

transaction at issue was “so predominantly foreign that an application of the 

Exchange Act [] would be impermissibly extraterritorial,” and (2) the investors 

failed to sufficiently allege a primary violation against Cato. (R. at 9, 20). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a complaint 

“must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim for 

relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). 

“Dismissal for failure to state a claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 12(b)(6) is reviewed de novo.” Navarro v. Block, 250 F.3d 729, 731 

(9th Cir. 2001). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The Fourteenth Circuit correctly found that involvement in a domestic 

transaction is not sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 

This Court must affirm this holding for three reasons. First, this Court’s 

language in Morrison illustrates that the determination that a transaction is 

domestic (“the transactional test”) was not developed to constitute a bright-line 
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rule. This determination is necessary, however Justice Scalia recognized that 

there would be transactions that occur domestically which should not fall 

under the purview of Section 10(b). Second, this Court must follow the Second 

Circuit in Parkcentral, adopting fact-specific inquiry to assist courts in applying 

Section 10(b) in accordance with Morrison’s presumption against 

extraterritoriality. This test allows courts to consider the foreignness of the 

facts, such as the type of security and location of the alleged misconduct 

related to the transaction in question. Finally, Toshiba’s bright-line rule not 

only undermines Morrison, but also threatens international comity.  

Even if this Court applies Section 10(b) extraterritorially, Petitioners 

complaint fails because it does not contain sufficient factual allegations 

showing that Cato committed a primary violation of Section 10(b). The implied 

private right of action under Section 10(b) does not extend to aiding and 

abetting. But the factual allegations, taken as true, show only that Cato 

substantially assisted her superior by drafting a statement for him, which he 

then disseminated. Furthermore, Petitioners failed to sufficiently plead scienter 

under the heightened pleading standards imposed by the Private Securities 

Litigation Reform Act (PSLRA). Expanding Rule 10b-5 to impose liability for 

aiding and abetting would undermine Congress’s intent to reduce abusive 

private securities litigation and expose countless secondary actors to liability. 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision should be affirmed. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE FINDING THAT A TRANSACTION IS DOMESTIC IS NOT 
SUFFICIENT TO APPLY SECTION 10(B) EXTRATERRITORIALLY 
BECAUSE HOLDING OTHERWISE UDERMINES PRECEDENT AND 
THREATENS INTERNATIONAL COMITY. 

The Supreme Court has long held that, absent a contrary intent, 

Congress’ legislation applies “only within the territorial jurisdiction of the 

United States.” Morrison v. Nat’l Australian Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 255 (2010) 

(quoting EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991)). In 

Morrison, this Court applied this “presumption against extraterritoriality” to 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act. Id. Section 10(b) is the regulating 

authority for private securities misrepresentations claims. 15 U.S.C. 

§78j(b). The statute applies to “deceptive conduct in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security registered on a national security exchange or 

any security not so registered.” Id. Based on the presumption against 

extraterritoriality, this Court developed a necessary test to apply Section 10(b) 

to foreign companies. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 272. The test requires that claims 

arise out of “[1] transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges, and [2] 

domestic transactions in other securities.”1 Id. 

But Morrison does not clarify whether Section 10(b) applies whenever a 

transaction is domestic. It should not. First, the language in Morrison indicates 

that the transactional test was not intended as a bright-line rule. See 

 
1 The Second Circuit expanded Morrison by holding that a transaction is domestic “if 
irrevocable liability is incurred or title passes within the United States.” See Absolute Activist 
Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012); See also S.E.C. v. World 
Capital Mkt. Inc., 864 F.3d 996, 1008 (9th Cir. 2017). 
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Parkcentral Glob. Hub. Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 215 

(2d. Cir. 2014) (describing the language in Morrison as “consistent with the 

description of necessary elements rather than sufficient conditions.”). Second, 

as in the instant case, facts may render a domestic transaction to be so 

predominantly foreign that Section 10(b)’s application becomes impermissibly 

extraterritorial. See id. at 201. Subjecting foreign companies, such as 

Alcollezione, to U.S. law when the facts show the domestic transaction is 

otherwise “predominantly foreign” undermines Morrison’s objective to not 

interfere with foreign regulation. See Morrison, 561 at 269 (holding that 

adopting the transactional test avoids “interference with foreign securities 

regulation that application of §10(b) abroad would produce.”). It follows, then, 

that this Court must adopt a second prong to the extraterritorial analysis—a 

specific inquiry into the foreignness of the facts of each case.  

A. The language in Morrison illustrates that the domesticity of a 
transaction alone is not sufficient to apply Section 10(b).  

This Court did not develop the transactional test as a means to apply 

§10(b) whenever foreign companies make contact with the U.S. Morrison, 561 

at 247 (“It is a rare case of prohibited extraterritorial application that lacks all 

contact with United States territory.”). Because “Section 10(b) does not apply 

extraterritorially,” the Court developed the transactional test to prevent 

“incompatibility with the applicable laws of other countries.” Id. at 266, 269. 

The Court’s goal was not to create a bright-line rule, but rather to establish a 

necessary threshold for applying §10(b) to foreign companies. Id. 
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 Conveniently, this Court did not need to adopt a fact-specific inquiry in 

addition to the transactional test for one reason—the facts did not require it. 

See id. at 254. The challenged transactions occurred entirely on the Australian 

Stock Exchange without any related domestic activity, thus failing the 

transactional test. Id. As a result, this Court did not consider whether the 

transactional test is sufficient to apply Section 10(b) in all circumstances. 

Morrison only guides courts on whether §10(b) applies to transactions 

occurring outside the U.S. Id. Still, this Court’s language in Morrison supports 

the argument that the domesticity of a transaction is not sufficient. See 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215 (holding that Morrison’s language does not 

indicate that a domestic transaction is sufficient to apply Section 10(b)).  

The language in Morrison is “consistent with the description of necessary 

elements rather than sufficient conditions.” Id. “The Court in Morrison never 

said that an application of [Section] 10(b) will be deemed domestic whenever 

such a transaction is present.” Id. Instead, the language in Morrison illustrates 

that the presumption against extraterritoriality may apply even where there is 

some domestic activity. Morrison 561 U.S. at 266 (“[T]he presumption against 

extraterritorial application would be a craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to 

its kennel whenever some domestic activity is involved in the case.”). Because 

finding “some” domestic activity does not automatically employ courts to apply 

§10(b), it follows that a bright-line rule is not sufficient. Id. Therefore, this 

Court must expand the extraterritorial analysis of §10(b) and adopt a fact-

specific inquiry.  
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B. This Court must adopt a fact-specific inquiry as the second prong to 
the extraterritorial analysis of Section 10(b) rather than a bright-line 
rule. 

This Court held that Section 10(b) “should be construed not technically 

and restrictively, but flexibly to effectuate its remedial purpose.” S.E.C. v. 

Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 819 (2002). See also Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum 

Co., 569 U.S. 108, 125 (2013) (interpreting Morrison to require a multi-factored 

approach by holding that claims under the Alien Tort Statute must involve 

conduct tied “with sufficient force” to the U.S.). After Morrison, “the main 

purpose for which courts now must find a useful test is to ensure, in 

transnational circumstances, that §10(b) not be given extraterritorial 

application.” Parkcentral, 763 at 219 (Leval, J., Concurring). Although there is 

a split of authority, the Second Circuit in Parkcentral adhered to Morrison’s 

presumption against extraterritoriality by adopting a flexible, fact-specific test. 

C.f. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d 198 (adopting a fact-intensive inquiry in addition to 

the transactional test); Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933 (9th Cir. 2018) 

(adopting a bright-line rule by finding the domesticity of a transaction sufficient 

to apply Section 10(b)).  

By accounting for the foreignness of the facts in each case, courts may 

interpret Section 10(b) in a flexible manner. The Ninth Circuit’s bright-line rule 

accomplishes the opposite, allowing courts to apply Section 10(b) merely by 

finding that the transaction in question occurred in the U.S. See Toshiba, 896 

F.3d at 933. Applying this rigid, single-factored test results in the technical and 

restrictive interpretation of Section 10(b) prohibited by this Court. See 
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Zandford, 535 U.S. at 819. This is especially true as applied to the securities 

type related to this case’s claim—domestic transactions in unsponsored ADRs.  

1. Applying a bright-line rule to unsponsored ADRs undermines the 
presumption against extraterritoriality. 

Applying §10(b) to the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs in this case, 

merely because the transactions occurred domestically, is impermissibly 

extraterritorial. Yet, the Ninth Circuit in Toshiba engaged in this impermissible 

application of §10(b) by holding that the statute applies to unsponsored ADR 

transactions whenever they occur domestically. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 933. The 

court held that foreign companies tied to domestic unsponsored ADR sales are 

subject to §10(b) regardless of the foreignness of the surrounding facts. Id. at 

941. Applying this single-factored rule undermines Morrison by failing to 

consider the unique nature of unsponsored ADR transactions. 

Unlike sponsored ADR transactions, those that are unsponsored occur 

between the depository issuer and investor. Am. Depository Receipts, Release 

No. 274 (May 23, 1991). Generally, unsponsored ADR transactions occur 

without any involvement (or even necessarily the consent of) the foreign 

company. Id. Instead, a custodian appointed by the depository bank holds 

deposits of the foreign company’s common stock, and thereafter the depository 

bank issues the ADR against those deposits. Id. Moreover, only sponsored ADR 

transactions require foreign companies to meet formal requirements in the 

U.S., such as participation in the issuer’s Form F-6 filing. Id. For this reason, 

under the rules, only sponsored ADRs may be traded on the New York Stock 

Exchange (NYSE) and other national exchanges. Id.  
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Despite the unique nature of unsponsored ADRs, under Toshiba, foreign 

companies who are not parties to these transactions may otherwise be subject 

to liability in the U.S. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 933. Morrison does not stand for 

such a liberal application of U.S. securities laws. Unsurprisingly, courts 

applying Parkcentral’s fact-specific inquiry, rather than Toshiba’s bright-line 

rule, to apply §10(b) to ADR transactions have only done so to those that are 

sponsored. See e.g. In re Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg., Sales Practices, & 

Prod. Liab. Litig., No. 2672 CRB (JSC), 2017 WL 66281, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 4, 

2017) (holding that the transaction was not predominantly foreign in part due 

to the nature of the defendant’s involvement in sponsored rather than 

unsponsored ADRs); See also Vancouver Alumni Asset Holdings Inc. v. Daimler 

AG, No. CV1602942SJOKSX, 2017 WL 2378369, at *8 (C.D. Cal. May 31, 

2017) (holding that the defendant “clearly took action by sponsoring ADRs to 

solicit American capital that was purposefully directed toward the United 

States.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). Logically, by following Parkcentral, 

courts may consider the nature of the underlying transactions along with the 

location of the alleged misconduct, to apply §10(b) in a manner consistent with 

Morrison.  

2. A fact specific inquiry allows courts to apply Section 10(b) in 
accordance with Morrison by considering the foreignness of the 
facts surrounding a transaction.  

“Foreign conduct is generally the domain of foreign law.” Microsoft Corp. 

v. AT&T Corp., 550 U.S. 437, 439 (2007). The Second Circuit applied this 

principle in Parkcentral, where it determined that the “transactional test” was 
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necessary but not sufficient. Parkcentral, 763 F. 3d at 215. Because 

Parkcentral’s facts required a more flexible test to avoid undermining Morrison, 

the court developed a fact-specific analysis. Id. at 216. Importantly, though, the 

court did not prescribe a checklist for analyzing a case’s facts. Id. at 217. 

Instead, the court left it to future courts to “eventually . . . develop a reasonable 

and consistent governing body of law.” Id.  

Absent a specific checklist, however, Parkcentral illustrates a successful 

approach to conducting a fact-specific inquiry to determine that a transaction 

is “predominantly foreign.” Id. There, plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ 

misstatements and fraudulent actions harmed their domestic derivative 

transactions. Id. at 201. The plaintiffs argued that the domesticity of the 

derivative purchases, without the defendants being parties to those 

transactions, was enough to bring a Section 10(b) claim. Id. at 212. 

 The Second Circuit focused on two facts in denying plaintiffs’ claims. Id. 

at 207. First, even though the derivative security purchases occurred 

domestically, the “shares they referenced appear to trade only on foreign 

exchanges.” Id. And second, the alleged fraudulent conduct occurred entirely in 

Germany. Id. The court concluded that based on these two distinct facts, 

applying Section 10(b) would undermine the presumption against 

extraterritoriality. Id. at 215-216. See also Prime Int’l Trading, LTD. v. BP P L.C., 

937 F. 3d 94, 105 (2d. Cir. 2019) (extending Parkcentral’s fact-intensive inquiry 

approach to the extraterritorial application of the Commodity Exchange Act 

(CEA)).  
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In a different context, the Second Circuit similarly applied a fact-specific 

inquiry to deny a CEA claim. Prime Int’l, 937 F.3d at 105. In Prime Int’l, the 

court denied plaintiffs’ claim based on the foreignness of the specific facts 

surrounding the transaction. Id. Like the court’s analysis in Parkcentral, the 

Prime Int’l court focused on two factual circumstances similar to the court’s 

inquiry in Parkcentral. Id. at 106. First, the court recognized that both the 

derivative investments in Parkcentral and the futures contracts in question 

were pegged to foreign assets with little connection to the U.S. Id. Second, 

because the “allegedly manipulative conduct” occurred entirely outside of the 

U.S., the court dismissed the claims as “impermissibly extraterritorial.” Id. The 

court made its ruling despite the fact that the futures contracts were traded on 

the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”)—a “U.S. based commodity 

futures exchange.” Id. at 98. 

Conducting a similar analysis in this case produces the same result. 

First, like the transactions in Parkcentral and Prime Int’l, here the unsponsored 

ADRs referenced Alcollezione stock—a stock traded exclusively on the Borsa 

Italiana—the Italian stock exchange. (R. at 3). There was no involvement by 

anyone at Alcollezione in the issuance of unsponsored ADRs on the American 

OTC market. (R. at 4). Petitioners may argue that Marconi’s statements to 

Schutt constitute consent, however the statements are not dispositive. (R. at 4). 

Marconi, the “marketing guy” at Alcollezione does not typically handle financial 

matters, especially “nuanced financial decisions,” such as consenting to an 

unsponsored ADR issuance. (R. at 4).  
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Secondly, like the foreignness of the defendants’ conduct in Prime Int’l 

and Parkcentral, here all relevant conduct other than the ADR transactions 

occurred in Italy. (R. at 6). Petitioners do not allege that any misrepresentations 

made by Alcollezione occurred domestically in the U.S. Still, Petitioner may 

point to Parkcentral’s unique facts to doubt the decision’s applicability here, 

and therefore argue against the relevance of a fact-specific inquiry. This 

argument is inadequate, however, because both the unsponsored ADRs here 

and the derivative investments in Parkcentral similarly require zero involvement 

or consent from the foreign company. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 201 (noting 

that the defendants had “no alleged involvement in plaintiffs’ transactions . . . 

.”). 

Additionally, neither Alcollezione nor the defendants in Parkcentral took 

steps to form a nexus between their own conduct and the transactions in the 

U.S. See id. at 215. For instance, due to the nature of the securities, 

Defendants in neither case took steps to comply with SEC requirements or 

otherwise target U.S. investors. Compare id. at 216 (noting that the defendant’s 

alleged misconduct was not connected with the U.S. because it occurred “in a 

foreign country, concerning securities in a foreign company, traded on foreign 

exchanges . . . .”), with In re Volkswagon, 2017 WL 66281, at *6 (reasoning that 

the defendant intended to connect itself with U.S. investors by issuing 

sponsored ADRs that require filing a Form F-6 with the SEC). Additionally, the 

Alcollezione ADRs were issued in the OTC market, which is not on a national 

stock exchange. See 17 C.F.R. §§242.300-303 (“Regulation ATS”) (the 
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regulating authority for alternative trading systems such as OTC markets); 

C.F.R. §240.3a1-1(a)(2) (exempting entities in compliance with Regulation ATS 

from the categorization of “exchange” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. 

§78mm(a)(1)).  

Petitioners may additionally argue that the investor materials posted in 

English on Alcollezione’s website constitutes a nexus with the U.S. (R. at 3). 

That position, however, disregards the reality that English is commonly spoken 

in business around the world. Thus, this case illustrates why it is so imperative 

that courts look to each case’s facts before impermissibly applying §10(b) 

merely upon a finding of a domestic transaction. The extraterritorial analysis of 

Section 10(b) must contain two prongs: [1] whether the transaction is domestic, 

and [2] whether the foreignness of the facts surrounding the transaction render 

the claim impermissible extraterritorial. 

3. A fact-specific inquiry does not resurrect the conduct and effects 
test rejected by this Court in Morrison.   

Because Morrison rejected the multi-factored “conduct and effects” test, 

Petitioners may argue that this Court should not adopt a fact-specific inquiry.2 

See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 261. However, this Court rejected the test on grounds 

not applicable to Parkcentral’s fact-specific approach. Justice Scalia disapproved 

of the test precisely because lower courts used it to attribute to Congress’ intent 

what they considered to be good policy. Id. at 259, n.4. (“[E]ven if one thinks that 

the ‘conduct’ and ‘effects’ tests are numbered among Judge Friendly’s many 

 
2 This Court described the “conduct and effects” test as requiring that courts decide in each 
case “what Congress would have wanted” before applying §10(b). See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257. 
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contributions to the law, his successors, though perhaps under the impression 

that they nurture the same mighty oak, are in reality tending each its own 

botanically distinct tree.”).  

On the other hand, here the proposed adoption of a fact-specific inquiry 

does not invite judges to make policy-based arguments that concerned this Court 

in Morrison. A fact-specific inquiry asks courts to look beyond the domesticity of 

a transaction to ensure that Section 10(b) is applied without undermining 

Morrison. See Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217. If this Court intended to ban the use 

of any multi-factored tests in analyzing §10(b), it would have explicitly done so. 

See id. at 219 (Leval, J., Concurring) (noting that “if the Supreme Court intended 

to rule that only bright-line, single factor tests can be recognized as valid law, it 

would state the message with unmistakable clarity.”). Thus, Parkcentral’s 

approach does not undermine Morrison, but instead offers courts the best 

method of applying §10(b) in accordance with the presumption against 

extraterritoriality.  

C. Adopting a bright-line rule threatens international comity. 

“[U]nintended clashes between our laws and those of other nations . . . 

could result in international discord.” See Arabian Am. Oil, 499 U.S. at 248. 

This is especially true when courts ``adopt an interpretation of U.S. law that 

carries foreign policy consequences not clearly intended by the political 

branches.” Kiobel, 569 U.S. at 116. Notably, neither this Court nor Congress 

have expressed an intent to interpret Section 10(b) in a manner that carries 

such foreign policy implications. Yet, under a bright-line rule, “[t]he mere fact 
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that [Petitioners] based their suit on a domestic transaction would make §10(b) 

applicable anywhere in the world.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 214.  

Justice is best served when foreign companies are subject to the 

jurisdiction of their primary foreign regulators. This Court must remember that 

applying U.S. law extraterritorially “could hale our citizens into their courts.” 

Kiobel, 569 U.S. at 124. Applying U.S. securities laws to claims involving 

predominantly foreign conduct could result in American companies, engaging 

in entirely domestic conduct, being subjected to foreign laws. Id. Here, 

although yet to occur, Italian and not American regulators should be permitted 

to investigate the claims related to Alcollezione’s alleged misconduct in Italy. (R. 

at 6-7). A contrary holding undermines precedent, interferes with foreign 

regulation, and subjects Americans to potential liability in the courts of other 

countries.  

II. PETITIONERS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY PLEAD A PRIMARY 
VIOLATION. 

Petitioners failed to plead sufficient factual allegations to establish a 

primary violation of Rule 10b-5 (a) or (c) where Cato merely complied with her 

boss’s request to draft an allegedly false statement that he disseminated to 

investors. Cato’s conduct is quintessential aiding and abetting, which cannot 

form the basis of a private cause of action under Section 10(b). Broadening the 

scope of Rule 10b-5 to capture such secondary conduct would undermine 

Congress’s efforts to reign in private securities litigation. Even accepting this 

expansive view, the complaint still fails because the factual allegations do not 
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establish scienter under the PSLRA’s heightened pleading standard. The 

Fourteenth Circuit’s decision should be affirmed. 

A. The implied private right of action under Section 10(b) should not be 
expanded to impose liability for secondary conduct. 

Petitioners’ broad interpretation of the implied private cause of action 

under Section 10(b) is inconsistent with this Court’s precedent, undermines 

Congress’s limits on private securities litigation, and exposes secondary actors 

to primary liability for conduct not prohibited by the statute. Congress did not 

expressly create a private right of action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5; rather, 

this Court infers an implied right from the statute. See Superintendent of Ins. of 

State of N. Y. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 13 n.9 (1971). Because the 

private right is a judicial construct, courts “emphasize[] adherence to the 

statutory language” and “refuse[] to allow 10b–5 challenges to conduct not 

prohibited by the text of the statute.” Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First 

Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 173 (1994).  

This Court has rebuffed attempts by private plaintiffs to enlarge the 

implied right to impose liability based on negligence, aiding and abetting, and 

other conduct not expressly prohibited by Section 10(b). See Ernst & Ernst v. 

Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 214 (1976) (declining to expand section 10(b) to 

reach negligent conduct); Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 473-74 

(1977) (limiting actions under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 only to 

“manipulative or deceptive” conduct); Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 

233-34 (1980) (holding that, “absent some explicit evidence of congressional 

intent,” a “duty to disclose under § 10(b) does not arise from the mere 
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possession of nonpublic market information”). Notably, in Central Bank, this 

Court declined to impose primary liability in a private suit under Section 10(b) 

for aiding and abetting a securities fraud, conduct which was not prohibited by 

the statute. 511 U.S. at 177. 

Expanding the implied private right of action under Section 10(b) would 

undermine Congress’s efforts to limit private securities litigation. In 1995, 

Congress enacted the PSLRA to “reassert its authority” over private securities 

litigation because abusive private suits against publicly traded companies 

risked serious harm to the economy. S. REP. 104-98, at 5 (1995). The PSLRA 

reduces frivolous private securities litigation by: imposing heightened pleading 

requirements for private securities fraud suits; directing the SEC—not private 

plaintiffs—to prosecute aiding and abetting violations; and clarifying the 

elements a plaintiff must prove in a private securities suit, such as loss 

causation and reliance. Despite invitations to establish a private right of action 

for aiding and abetting, Congress refused because it “would be contrary to [the 

PSLRA’s] goal of reducing meritless securities litigation.” S. REP. 104-98, at 19 

(1995). 

In light of Congress’s clear intent to reduce private securities litigation, 

this Court drew a line in the sand, refusing to enlarge the private right of action 

“beyond its present boundaries.” Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Sci.-Atlanta, 

552 U.S. 148, 167 (2008). Courts now view private Section 10(b) suits “with the 

narrow dimensions [courts] must give to a right of action Congress did not 

authorize when it first enacted the statute and did not expand when it revisited 
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the law.” Id. at 165; see also Desai v. Deutsche Bank Sec. Ltd., 573 F.3d 931, 

942 (9th Cir. 2009) (noting this Court’s “rather restrictive view of private suits 

under § 10(b)”). In Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, for 

example, this Court narrowly interpreted the meaning of Rule 10b-5(b) to 

include only those persons with ultimate control over the false statement. 564 

U.S. 135, 143 (2011). The Court decided against a “broader reading of ‘make’” 

that would once again expand the scope of primary liability to include 

secondary violations like aiding and abetting. Id.  

Here, Petitioners, like so many plaintiffs before, ask this Court to find a 

primary violation based on conduct that is not prohibited by the statute. Cato 

merely drafted the assurances at her superior’s request, which her superior 

then disseminated to investors. Under this Court’s precedent, private plaintiffs 

cannot bring an action under Section 10(b) for secondary conduct, such as 

assisting another in making or disseminating a false statement. See id. A 

contrary interpretation would undermine Congress’s efforts to stop private 

plaintiffs from “impos[ing] substantial costs on companies and individuals 

whose conduct conforms to the law.” Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 

Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 313 (2007). 

B. Cato cannot be primarily liable where she merely assisted another in 
a securities fraud. 

Cato cannot be primarily liable under Section 10(b) because she did not 

commit a primary violation. The district court correctly concluded that 

Marconi, not Cato, made the false statement and therefore, under Janus, Cato 

was not subject to primary liability under 10b-5(b). The district court erred, 
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however, in finding that Cato could still be primarily liable because she 

“effectively served as the disseminator” of the false statement. (R. at 8). Cato 

did not disseminate the statement to investors by any ordinary definition of 

“dissemination.” The factual allegations, at best, allege that Cato substantially 

assisted Marconi in committing a primary violation. Because private plaintiffs 

cannot maintain an aiding and abetting action under Rule 10b-5, the 

Fourteenth Circuit correctly reversed the District Court.  

1. Cato did not make or disseminate the false statement. 

 Cato cannot be primarily liable under Section 10(b) because she did not 

make or disseminate the allegedly false statement. Despite this Court’s past 

guidance against “allow[ing] 10b–5 challenges to conduct not prohibited by the 

text of the statute,” in Lorenzo, this Court concluded that dissemination fit 

within the meaning of subsections (a) and (c). Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 173; 

Lorenzo v. Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1101 (2019). But Janus still 

precludes liability “where an individual neither makes nor disseminates false 

information . . . .” Id. at 1103. Because the subsections of 10b-5 conceivably 

“capture a wide range of conduct,” “[p]urpose, precedent, and circumstance 

could lead to narrowing their reach” in “borderline cases.” Id. at 1101. 

Here, the Court is presented with a borderline case that risks once again 

opening the courthouse doors to frivolous private securities lawsuits for aiding 

and abetting. Both lower courts agreed that Cato did not “make” the false 

statement. Marconi, not Cato, disseminated the false statement by “deliver[ing]” 

the slide deck and “passing along copies of the pro-forma financial 
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statements.”3 (R. at 6). Under Janus, Cato cannot be liable where she neither 

made nor disseminated the false statement. But the District Court 

misinterpreted the recent Lorenzo decision to impose primary liability on 

secondary actors who neither disseminate nor make a false statement.  

Lorenzo maintained the line between primary and secondary liability, 

holding that an individual who makes or disseminates a false statement may 

be primarily liable where the conduct satisfies all the requirements of a primary 

violation. Id. at 1103-04. Lorenzo was an SEC enforcement action, not a private 

suit based on the implied right of action under Section 10(b). Further, the 

defendant’s actions more clearly matched the conduct prohibited by the 

scheme liability provisions. Lorenzo, the head of investment banking, clearly 

disseminated a false statement by twice e-mailing investors to solicit 

investments in a company that he knew was worth significantly less than he 

represented to the investors. Cato, by comparison, did not directly 

communicate with any investors—much less purchasers of an unsponsored 

ADR.  

As the Fourteenth Circuit noted, Cato’s conduct cannot fairly be 

described as dissemination in the ordinary meaning of the word.4 See (R. at 22) 

 
3 Contrary to the suggestion made in the concurrence, the record does not establish who 
inserted the statement. See (R. at 32) (DeQuinzio, J., concurring) (“[B]y inserting [the 
assurances] into investor materials . . . Appellant again disseminated misstatements.”). The 
record reflects only that the assurances were “inserted into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted 
in Factor’s pro-forma financial statements” by someone, not necessarily Cato. R.6. (emphasis 
added). 
 
4 The ordinary meaning of dissemination is “[t]he act of spreading, diffusing, or dispersing.” 
DISSEMINATION, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). 
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(distinguishing dissemination from Cato’s conduct). Cato, in contrast, did not 

“spread” or “disperse” the false statement, she merely drafted it at her 

superior’s insistence. In Janus, this Court reversed the appeals court’s 

imposition of liability even though the defendant “participat[ed] in the writing 

and dissemination of the prospectuses.” 564 U.S. at 141. The result here 

should be the same because Cato did not make or disseminate the false 

statement.  

2. Cato cannot be primarily liable for aiding and abetting under 
Section 10(b). 

Cato cannot be primarily liable for assisting her boss in committing a 

primary violation because this Court proscribed private aiding and abetting 

actions. Finding no support in the statute and careful not to extend a private 

right of action which Congress did not expressly create, this Court held in 

Central Bank that a “private plaintiff may not maintain an aiding and abetting 

suit under § 10(b).” 511 U.S. at 191. The PSLRA, passed only one year after 

Central Bank, assigns exclusive responsibility for prosecuting aiding and 

abetting to the Securities and Exchange Commission. 15 U.S.C. § 78t. In the 

PSLRA, Congress defined the type of conduct that would give rise to aiding and 

abetting as “any person that knowingly or recklessly provides substantial 

assistance to another person in violation” of Section 10(b). Id.  

The District Court concluded that even though Cato did not make the 

false statement, she was primarily liable under 10b-5(a) or (c) because she 

“effectively served as the disseminator” of the statement. (R. at 8). Put another 

way, Cato substantially assisted Marconi’s dissemination of the false 
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statement. This expansive view of primary liability would “revive in substance 

the implied cause of action against all aiders and abettors except those who 

committed no deceptive act in the process of facilitating the fraud” and conflict 

with “Congress’ determination that this class of defendants should be pursued 

by the SEC and not by private litigants.” Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 162–63 

(rebuffing plaintiff’s theory that primary liability arises whenever a secondary 

actor “commit[s] a deceptive act in the process of providing assistance”).  

Under the District Court’s flexible theory of liability, secondary actors are 

primarily liable where their conduct “effectively” results in another person 

committing a primary violation of Rule 10b-5. In Stoneridge, the defendants 

engaged in transactions with a cable operator, which allowed the cable 

company to inflate its revenues and deceive investors and research analysts. 

552 U.S. at 155. In Janus, the defendant fund adviser was “significantly 

involved in preparing the prospectuses.” 564 U.S. at 148. Under the District 

Court’s theory of liability, these defendants would be subject to primarily 

liability because their conduct “effectively served” to enable another’s primary 

violation.  

Such a broad scope of liability erases the bright-line distinction between 

primary and secondary liability. Maintaining this “distinction between those 

who are primarily liable (and thus may be pursued in private suits) and those 

who are secondarily liable (and thus may not be pursued in private suits)” is 

critical. Id. at 143 n.6. Blurring the line between primary and secondary 

liability would rob Stoneridge and Central Bank of any meaning and expose 
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“virtually any person who assists with the making of a fraudulent 

misstatement” to primary liability in a private suit. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1110 (Thomas, J. dissenting).  

The Fourteenth Circuit, consistent with this Court’s controlling 

precedent, distinguished between Marconi’s primary violation in making and 

disseminating a false statement and Cato’s secondary violation in assisting 

Marconi in the same. The factual allegations, taken as true, alleged that 

Marconi, Cato’s boss, repeatedly asked Cato for assurances regarding the new 

product’s regulatory compliance. Cato cautioned her boss about the difficulties 

of compliance but, at his insistence, she drafted the assurances for her boss. 

Under these facts, Cato merely assisted her boss in committing a primary 

violation and, under Section 10(b) and this Court’s precedent, she cannot be 

primarily liable for aiding and abetting. 

C. Petitioners failed to allege sufficient facts showing Cato satisfied all 
the elements of a primary violation under section 10(b). 

Petitioners failed to plead a primary violation because the factual 

allegations do not establish scienter. A secondary actor, such as Cato, is only 

“liable as a primary violator under 10b–5,” if “all of the requirements for 

primary liability under Rule 10b–5 are met.” Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191 

(emphasis in original); Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 158 (“The conduct of a 

secondary actor must satisfy each of the elements or preconditions for 

liability.”). A plaintiff must prove scienter to prevail in a private action under 

Section 10(b); negligent conduct is insufficient. See Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 

201 (concluding “[section] 10(b) was addressed to practices that involve some 
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element of scienter and cannot be read to impose liability for negligent conduct 

alone”).  

Under the PSLRA’s “[e]xacting pleading requirements,” plaintiffs must 

allege sufficient facts to give rise to a strong inference that the defendant 

committed the fraudulent act with the requisite state of mind. Tellabs, 551 U.S. 

at 313. Private plaintiffs must “state with particularity both the facts 

constituting the alleged violation, and the facts evidencing scienter.” Id. The 

factual allegations must “give rise to a strong inference that the defendant 

acted with the required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A). “[T]he 

inference of scienter must be more than merely plausible or reasonable—it 

must be cogent and at least as compelling as any opposing inference of 

nonfraudulent intent.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 314. Courts must grant a motion to 

dismiss where the plaintiff fails to meet this state of mind requirement. Id. at § 

78u-4(b)(3)(A).  

Petitioners allege “fraud by hindsight” based on a compliance problem 

that occurred months after Cato drafted the allegedly false assurances. But the 

PSLRA raised the pleading standards to prevent precisely this type of “fraud by 

hindsight,” where plaintiffs attempt to impose liability on executives for failure 

to predict future developments. See Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 320-21 (explaining the 

problem of “fraud by hindsight” and the PSLRA’s efforts to raise the bar for 

pleading scienter). “Corporate officials need not be clairvoyant; they are only 

responsible for revealing those material facts reasonably available to them.” 

Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 309 (2d Cir. 2000).  
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Cato did not know the assurances were false when she drafted the 

statement. The facts show that Cato conducted a “diligent research 

assessment” of the current Italian alcohol regulations and informed Marconi 

that compliance was “possible,” but “seemed unlikely in the short-term.” (R. at 

5). Cato, a relatively inexperience attorney, deferred to the seasoned business 

magnate, Marconi, when he assured her that the compliance issue was 

“perfectly common” and would be resolved. (R. at 5). When Cato drafted the 

assurances, “it was unclear whether Frizzantissimo would run afoul of any 

beverage regulations.” (R. at 6). (emphasis added). This uncertainty is 

understandable, “given tightening food and beverage regulations” around that 

time. (R. at 5). Petitioners allege that Cato knew that the assurances were false 

but, given the tightening regulations and Marconi’s assurances that the 

product would be approved, a “competing inference[] rationally drawn from the 

facts alleged” is that Cato believed that the product would be approved when 

she drafted the statement. Tellabs, U.S. 551 at 314. Cato should not be 

primarily liable for, at worst, failing to predict a compliance problem that 

developed months after she drafted the assurances. 

The District Court’s finding of primary liability against Cato is also 

inconsistent with its own decision to grant Factor’s motion to dismiss on the 

specific grounds that the complaint failed to give rise to a strong inference of 

scienter for Factor. Factor was a “highly successful senior financial executive” 

before joining Alcollezione, whereas Cato only just graduated from law school 

when she joined the company. (R. at 2). Factor, as Chief Financial Officer of a 
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public company, had a better understanding of the securities laws and 

regulations than Cato, whose work was limited to local Italian regulatory 

compliance and corporate structuring. Factor was one of the majority 

shareholders of the company with a vested interest in pleasing shareholders 

with favorable financial projections. Cato, in contrast, wanted to please her 

boss ahead of her impending biannual review. Factor was “a dear friend” of the 

banker who set up the unsponsored ADR and Marconi blessed the registration 

because of the close relationship between Factor and Schutt. (R. at 4). The 

facts do not give rise to any inference that Cato knew that purchasers of an 

unsponsored ADR would rely on the faulty assurances—or that she knew the 

unsponsored ADR even existed.5 The inference of scienter for Factor is 

particularly strong because Schutt, the banker who registered the ADR, 

congratulated Factor on the announcement, suggesting not only that Factor 

knew that the statement was disseminated to the hedge fund investors, but 

also that those investors attributed the statement to Factor. The factual 

allegations do not give rise to a strong inference of scienter for Cato, especially 

compared to Factor’s alleged involvement in the scheme.  

  

 
5 The Fourteenth Circuit suggested that the company, and presumably its executives like Cato, 
may not even be aware of an unsponsored ADR. (R. at 14-15). (“Unsponsored ADRs, on the 
other hand, exist entirely without the consent or involvement of the foreign company.”). 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated herein, Respondent respectfully requests this Court 

to affirm the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

__________________/s/ 

Team R10 
Counsel of Record for Respondent 
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APPENDIX 1 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2018) 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange, 

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or 

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, 

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 

15 U.S.C. § 78j (2018) 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange-- . . .  

. . . (b) To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any 
security registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so 
registered, or any securities-based swap agreement1 any manipulative or 
deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations 
as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public 
interest or for the protection of investors. 
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